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I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
1. On September 17, 2004, the Colorado Telecommunications Association (CTA) filed a complaint against Western Wireless Holding Company, Inc. (Western Wireless)

2. On September 20, 2004, the Commission issued an Order to Satisfy or Answer.  On the same date, the Commission scheduled a hearing for October 29, 2004.

3. On September 29, 2004, the Colorado Office of Consumer Counsel (OCC) filed a Notice of Intervention.

4. On October 12, 2004, Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission (Staff) intervened in the case.

5. On September 30, 2004, Western Wireless filed a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint.

6. On October 14, 2004, CTA filed an Unopposed Motion to Vacate the Hearing scheduled for October 29, 2004.

7. By Interim Order No. R04-1214-I mailed on October 15, 2004, the Motion to Vacate the Hearing was granted and the hearing was rescheduled for January 5, 2005.

8. On October 15, 2004, CTA, OCC, and Staff filed a Joint Response to the Motion to Dismiss of Western Wireless.

9. On October 25, 2004, Western Wireless filed a Reply Brief in Support of its Motion to Dismiss the Complaint.

10. On December 10, 2004, Western Wireless filed an Unopposed Motion to Vacate the Hearing scheduled for January 5, 2005.  The Motion to Vacate was granted in Decision No. R04-1506-I (December 16, 2004).  The hearing was rescheduled for February 8, 2005.

11. On January 11, 2005, in Decision No. R05-0042-I the motion of Western Wireless to dismiss the complaint was denied.

12. On February 17, 2005, CTA filed an Unopposed Motion to Vacate the Hearing Scheduled for February 8, 2005.  By Interim Order No. R05-0226-I (February 23, 2005), the motion was granted and the hearing was rescheduled for March 7 and 8, 2005.

13. The hearing was held on March 7 and 8, 2005.  Testimony was received from witnesses and Exhibit Nos. 1 through 12; 13A, 13B, and 13C through 40 were marked for identification.  Exhibit Nos. 1 through 13A, B, C, 14 through 25, 27, 29, 30, 37, 38, 39, and 40 were admitted into evidence.  Exhibit Nos. 26, 28, and 31 through 36 were not offered into evidence.

14. At the conclusion of the hearing, on March 8, 2005, a briefing schedule was established and the matter was taken under advisement.

15. On April 8, 2005, CTA, OCC, and Staff filed briefs and/or opening Statements of Position.  On April 18, 2005, Western Wireless filed its Post-Hearing Statement of Position.

16. On May 13, 2005, CTA, OCC, and Staff filed closing Statements of Position.

17. In its Post-Hearing Statement of Position, Western Wireless renewed its Motion to Dismiss the Complaint on jurisdictional grounds.   The renewed motion does not assert any new argument or authority in support of its motion, therefore the renewed motion to dismiss is denied.  

18. Pursuant to § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the record and exhibits of the hearing and a written recommended decision is transmitted to the Commission.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
19. CTA is an association of Colorado rural local exchange providers.

20. Western Wireless is a commercial mobile radio service wireless telecommunications provider doing business in Colorado under its brand name, CellularOne.

21. The Commission has jurisdiction to hear the Complaint.  Western Wireless submitted to the Commission jurisdiction pursuant to the stipulation it signed, approved by the Commission in Docket No. 00K-255T.

22. On September 17, 2004, CTA filed a complaint against Western Wireless alleging that Western Wireless, as a telecommunications carrier designated by this Commission as an Eligible Telecommunications Carrier (ETC) and Eligible Provider (EP), failed to comply with commitments it made in order to obtain designation as an ETC and EP eligible to collect high cost support funds.  CTA alleges certain commitments were made in a Stipulation approved by the Commission in the consolidated docket of 00K-255T, Decision Nos. R01-0019, C01-0476, and C01-0629,
 as a basis for the Commission’s approval of the designation of Western Wireless as an ETC and EP.

23. CTA alleges that Western Wireless failed to offer a Basic Universal Service (BUS) Plan for $14.99 in its service areas as it committed to do under the terms of the Stipulation.

The above referenced Stipulation and Settlement Agreement is central to the complaint of CTA.  On September 11, 2000, in Docket No. 00A-174T, Western Wireless filed an 

application with the Commission for designation as an eligible telecommunications provider pursuant to 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-41-8.  On the same date, Western Wireless also filed an application with the Commission in Docket No. 00A-171T for designation as an ETC pursuant to 4 CCR 723-42-7.  The two applications were consolidated and designated as Docket No. 00K-255T.  The parties to this consolidated proceeding were Western Wireless, CTA, Qwest Corporation, OCC, and Staff.  As a result of the proceeding in the applications, a Stipulation and Settlement Agreement was executed by Western Wireless, OCC, and Staff.  Western Wireless agreed to offer and advertise a $14.99 BUS Plan in designated Colorado rural exchanges.  The Stipulation was approved by the Commission and Western Wireless was designated as an ETC and EP under the provisions of 47 U.S.C. § 214(e), 4 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) § 54.101 et seq. and 4 CCR 723-42-7.

24. The designation as an ETC made Western Wireless eligible to receive Federal Universal Support Funds (USFs) and the designation of Western Wireless as an EP provided eligibility to receive Colorado High Support Mechanism Funds in providing basis Universal Service in certain Colorado rural high cost areas.

25. Western Wireless agreed in the Stipulation to offer its BUS for $14.99 “… as a wireless application based on its existing mobile cellular service in Colorado.”
  The service would use a mobile customer premises unit a customer would buy or lease.  The approximate size of the unit is that of a laptop computer, into which a customer would plug a telephone, fax machine, or modem.  Western Wireless agreed to make its BUS offering to the public in its designated service areas upon completing its compliance filing with the Commission.
  Western Wireless made its compliance filing with the Commission on November 8, 2002.
  Thus, Western Wireless was obligated by the terms of the Stipulation to offer its $14.99 BUS Plan starting on November 8, 2002, the date of its compliance filing with the Commission.

26. Western Wireless also made a commitment in the Stipulation to “… advertise the availability of [the BUS offering] and charges using media of general distribution in accordance with federal and state requirements.”

27. The parties to the Stipulation agreed and stated that this Commission has the authority to enforce compliance with the Stipulation.

28. After receiving designation as an ETC and EP in the consolidated docket, 00K-255T (WW1), Western Wireless filed a second application on February 14, 2003 for ETC and EP designation in additional Colorado rural exchanges (WW2).  On January 8, 2004, Western Wireless filed another application for designation of additional Colorado rural exchanges (WW3).

29. CTA became concerned about whether Western Wireless was actually offering the $14.99 BUS Plan after reviewing the testimony of Ms. Patricia Parker in WW3.  Ms. Parker was a witness for OCC, a party in the WW3 docket.  In that docket, Ms. Parker testified
 concerning the availability and advertising of the $14.99 BUS Plan that Western Wireless committed to in the Stipulation.  Ms. Parker who testified at the instant hearing on behalf of the OCC stated that she had concerns about the availability of the BUS offering and lack of advertising of the offering.  Ms. Parker testified that in preparing for the WW3 docket, she conducted an investigation of whether or not Western Wireless offered the BUS to customers in its designated service territory.  She called Western Wireless retail stores branded as CellularOne, and authorized CellularOne dealers on April 6, 2004 and May 17, 2004.  She testified that she called the Canon City and Salida CellularOne stores in which she asked about the availability of the $14.99 BUS.  The CellularOne representatives at the store told Ms. Parker that they were unaware of the offering.  They told Ms. Parker that the lowest cost plan was $20 a month.  Ms. Parker also called the CellularOne 800 number.  She talked to two CellularOne representatives who were unaware of the $14.99 plan.  Ms. Parker also called CellularOne stores or authorized agents located in Alamosa, Trinidad, Westcliffe, and Monte Vista.  None of the sale representatives at these stores was aware of the $14.99 BUS Plan.  As a result of her investigation, Ms. Parker concluded that Western Wireless did not have the $14.99 BUS offering prior to the commencement of the hearing in WW3 on May 17, 2004.

30. Ms. Parker testified at the instant hearing that Western Wireless is receiving federal funds for a service that they were not advertising.  Ms. Parker believes that the $14.99 plan existed at the time of the hearing in the instant case, however, the public is unaware of the offering since Western Wireless does not advertise.  Ms. Parker testified that Western Wireless has no customers for its $14.99 BUS Plan.

31. CTA witness, Glenn H. Brown, a consultant, was retained by CTA to conduct an investigation of the availability of Western Wireless’ $14.99 BUS offering.  In his prefiled direct testimony,
 Mr. Brown testified that on July 28, 2004, he called various Western Wireless retail stores located in areas where Western Wireless was designated as an ETC and EP provider.  Mr. Brown called CellularOne retail stores in Alamosa, Canon City, and Pueblo.  In each case, Mr. Brown testified that a $14.99 BUS offering was unavailable and that the cheapest local service offering that was available was $30 per month.
  Mr. Brown stated that he also checked the CellularOne website to determine if CellularOne had a $14.99 BUS offering.  Mr. Brown stated that the website had no mention of the $14.99 BUS Plan.

32. On September 7, 2004, Mr. Brown called CellularOne’s toll free number to inquire about the availability of the BUS offering in Pueblo.  The CellularOne representative asked for an “offer code”.  Mr. Brown gave the representative the code number “299” that he obtained from a CellularOne brochure.  He was transferred to a second representative who told him that the offering was available.  Mr. Brown stated that based on his investigation:  

… A normal consumer making a reasonable inquiry into the products and services offered by Western Wireless would be totally unaware that the affordable BUS offering actually existed.  It took repeated questioning with the specific product knowledge to even find out if the product actually existed.

33. During August, 2004, CTA witness Michelle Anderson testified that Glenn Brown asked her to research the availability of the $14.99 BUS offering in Colorado.  Ms. Anderson stated that on or about September 2, 2004, she visited the CellularOne Store in Alamosa.  She told the sales representative that she was interested in the 14.99 unlimited local calling plan.  The representative produced a brochure from behind the counter and handed it to Ms. Anderson telling her that she needed to call an 800 number listed on the brochure to order the service.  Ms. Anderson next drove to Salida where she visited a CellularOne retail store.  Ms. Anderson asked for the $14.99 BUS.  The sales representative had no knowledge of the plan.  The representative contacted a CellularOne representative by telephone to inquire of the availability of the plan.  The Salida clerk handed the phone to Ms. Anderson who explained to the person on the phone what she wanted.  The CellularOne representative on the phone told Ms. Anderson that the plan was available and that Ms. Anderson would have to talk with someone else in another department to order the service.  Their representative did not tell Ms. Anderson what department to contact for an order.  Ms. Anderson testified that while she was at the Salida store, she asked for a brochure regarding the $14.99 plan.  No brochure was available.

34. Ms. Anderson next visited the CellularOne store located in Canon City.  At this store, Ms. Anderson told the sales representative that she was interested in the $14.99 BUS Plan.  The sales representative responded that the $30 plan would offer much more than the $14.99 plan, however, Ms. Anderson insisted on information on the $14.99 plan.  Another CellularOne representative, possibly the store manager, walked to his office and obtained a pack of CellularOne brochures and gave Ms. Anderson one stating that the brochure described the $14.99 plan.
  He told her that she would have to call CellularOne’s 800 number printed on the brochure to order the service.  In response to Ms. Anderson’s inquiry, the representative told her that CellularOne did not intend to advertise this plan and that prospective customers would have to ask for it and order it by calling the 800 number.

35. Ms. Anderson then traveled to the CellularOne store located on U.S. Highway 50 in Pueblo.  Two of the sales representatives were not aware of the $14.99 plan, however, another representative was aware of the plan.  This sales representative had no brochures to offer, however, he told Ms. Anderson that she would have to call the CellularOne 800 number to order the plan.  The representative encouraged Ms. Anderson to sign up for the $30 or $40 plan which he said would be immediately available at the store.

36. On the next day after visiting the stores (September 3, 2004), Ms. Anderson called the 800 number listed on the $14.99 BUS Plan brochure.  She was transferred approximately three times since at least three representatives were not familiar with the $14.99 BUS Plan.  Ms. Anderson was finally transferred to another department.  The customer service representative told her that the $14.99 plan was available in six states, however, it was not yet available in Colorado.

37. Staff witness Pam Fischhaber testified that ETCs are designated pursuant to the provisions of the Telecommunications Act of 1996 (Act), 47 U.S.C. § 214(e).  The ETCs are eligible to receive Universal Service support pursuant to § 254 of the Act.  Under § 214(e)(1)
 ETCs are required to:  (A) offer services that are supported by the support mechanisms of § 254(c); and (B) advertise the services and charges in media of general distribution.

38. Ms. Fischhaber stated that Western Wireless has approximately 17 Universal Service offerings that may qualify for support.  She does not believe that Western Wireless is complying with the requirements of the Act in regard to advertising universal service offerings, especially the $14.99 BUS plan.

39. Although Western Wireless filed its agreement letter (Exhibit No. 30) on November 8, 2002, in compliance with the Stipulation, which in effect advised the Commission and presumably the public that the $14.99 BUS was available, Ms. Fischhaber believes that the $14.99 plan was not available to customers until March 23, 2004.  She believes that not only was the $14.99 plan not advertised in media of general circulation as required by the Stipulation and the Act, Western Wireless did not have any procedures in place for the ordering and installation of the plan until March 23, 2004 at which time Western Wireless placed the plan on its Einstein ordering system.

40. Western Wireless received USF support funds starting in October 2002.  It has received the support funds through November 2004.
  Western Wireless witness James Blundell confirmed that Western Wireless has received USF support funds that are listed on Confidential Exhibit No. 14.

41. Ms. Fischhaber believes that Western Wireless violated 47 U.S.C. § 214(e)(1)(B) by failing to advertise the availability and charges for its BUS offering and violated § 214(e) of the Act by obtaining USF support funds for its $14.99 BUS Plan which she believes was not available from October 2002 through March 2004.

42. In addition, Ms. Fischhaber testified that in her opinion, Western Wireless has not complied with the Stipulation.  Ms. Fischhaber believes that Western Wireless violated the Stipulation by not making available the $14.99 BUS offering for some 16 months after the time it made its compliance filing with the Commission on November 8, 2002 and failing to advertise the BUS plan.  In addition, this witness believes that after offering the plan, Western Wireless restricted the availability of the offering to customers with poor credit ratings; failed to provide Staff and OCC advertising materials of its BUS offering; and submitted line counts and obtained USF support for CenturyTel wire centers without filing with the Commission the offering.  Finally, Ms. Fischhaber believes that Western Wireless violated 4 CCR 723-42-7.2.6 by failing to advertise.

Ms. Fischhaber, on behalf of Staff, recommends that the Commission:

(1)
Revoke all ETC and EP designations of Western Wireless.

(2)
If the Commission does not revoke the ETC and EP designations of Western Wireless the Commission send a copy of the record in the instant proceeding to the Federal Communications Commission and the Universal Service Administrative Company recommending that Western Wireless be ordered to make reparations by paying back all of the high cost funding it has received.

(3)
If the Commission revokes Western Wireless’ ETC and EP designations, the Commission should consider sending a copy of its order and information for Staff to contact other state commissions in states where Western Wireless has been designated as an ETC.

(4)
The Commission should send a copy of the record in this proceeding to the Colorado State Attorney General’s Office, with a request to investigate misleading and deceptive business practices.

43. James Blundell, Executive Director of External Affairs for Western Wireless testified that Western Wireless is committed to making the $14.99 BUS offering available to customers.  Mr. Blundell acknowledged that Western Wireless made in effect a compliance filing with the Commission on November 8, 2002 (Exhibit No. 30).  The filing identified the rates, terms, and conditions of the $14.99 BUS offering and it also describes areas of the state where the offering was available.  Mr. Blundell testified that since the filing is available to the public at the Commission, Western Wireless considers it to provide notice to the public of the availability of the $14.99 BUS offering.

44. Mr. Blundell testified that the $14.99 BUS offering was available to consumers after the filing on November 8, 2002.  He stated that a customer could ask for the offering at a CellularOne retail store or by telephone.  He stated that if a sales representative was not familiar with the offering, a customer could “escalate” the request to the regulatory group at the corporate headquarters where steps could be taken to provide the service.

45. Mr. Blundell stated that Western Wireless advertises its services through radio, TV, newspapers, direct mail, and website advertising.  He does not believe that there is any legal requirement to advertise a specific service or offering.

46. Mr. Blundell testified that the Einstein System, an internet service provisioning system that is available to Western Wireless employees to check on rate plans, coverage, and other matters, did not display the $14.99 BUS Plan until 2004.  Upon discovery of the absence of the plan on the system, Western Wireless placed the plan on the system
 and the company printed the $14.99 BUS brochures.
  Arrangements were made to deliver the brochures to Colorado CellularOne retail stores.

47. Mr. Blundell checked selected CellularOne retail stores in Colorado in January of 2005 to determine whether he would be able to order the $14.99 BUS Plan.  He called one of the stores in Pueblo, the Salida store, and the Canon City store.  The sales representatives in two out of three of the stores were aware of the plan.  All of the sales representatives told him to call the 800 number for service.

48. Mr. Blundell testified that Western Wireless uses Universal Service support funds to expand and improve Western Wireless’ network infrastructure for the benefit of its Colorado customers.

49. Mr. Blundell testified that Western Wireless has received support funds as indicated in Confidential Exhibit No. 14, however, Western Wireless has not applied for, nor received any state support funds in Colorado.

50. In regard to advertising, Mr. Blundell states that Western Wireless does advertise and he believes that its Colorado advertising is in compliance with § 214(e) of the Act.  Western Wireless believes that the advertising requirement requires that a carrier generally advertise in the areas that it serves.  It does not believe that the Act requires Western Wireless to advertise every rate plan.

III. DISCUSSION/CONCLUSIONS
51. The evidence of record establishes that CTA has met its burden of proof by establishing that Western Wireless has violated the terms of the Stipulation and Settlement Agreement approved by the Commission in Docket No. 00K-255T.

52. The evidence further establishes that the major factor in obtaining Commission approval for the designation of Western Wireless as an ETC and EP, eligible to collect support funds, was the commitment of Western Wireless to offer a $14.99 BUS Plan and to advertise its existence.

53. By the terms of the Stipulation, Western Wireless was to offer and advertise its $14.99 BUS Plan on the date of compliance filing with the Commission starting on November 8, 2002.  (Exhibit No. 30)  There exists overwhelming and credible evidence to establish that Western Wireless violated the Stipulation by not having the $14.99 BUS Plan available for provisioning to Colorado customers for the period of November 8, 2002 through March 23, 2004.  The testimony of witnesses Parker, Brown, Anderson, and Fischhaber establishes that the BUS offering was not available until March, 2004 approximately 16 months after Western Wireless made the commitment to provide the service.  These witnesses have established that most of the Western Wireless representatives contacted by the witnesses were unaware of the offering after repeated inquiries.  In addition, Western Wireless did not advertise the offering until March 2004 at which time it provided some of its branded retail stores with brochures.  Even then, these brochures were not displayed in the stores but rather were located out of view of a customer who entered the CellularOne stores and authorized agent stores.  The brochures were not available at all of the stores.

54. It was not until March of 2004, that Western Wireless placed the $14.99 BUS Plan on its Einstein ordering system to allow the proper provisioning of the plan for an interested customer.  Thus it is clear that a customer who wanted the $14.99 BUS Plan had no reasonable way of knowing of the offering before March, 2004, and even if the customer asked for the lowest local calling rate plan in the retail stores, the customer was offered a plan of $30 or more by sales representatives who themselves were unaware of the offering.

55. Although Western Wireless contends that the offering was available, and that it was advertised, the evidence shows otherwise.  It is significant that as of the dates of the hearing in the instant docket, no customer has opted to order the $14.99 BUS Plan.  

56. Western Wireless as an ETC and EP has the obligation by the terms of the Stipulation and the Act, 47 U.S.C. §§ 214(e), 254(e), 47 C.F.R., §§ 54.01, 54.201, and this Commission’s rules, 4 CCR 723-42-7 to offer and to advertise the plan.

57. The evidence of record establishes that even though Western Wireless did not offer and advertise the plan as it committed to do under the terms of the Stipulation, it received federal support funds starting in October 2002 as shown in Confidential Exhibit No. 14.

58. It is found and concluded that Western Wireless violated the Stipulation from November 8, 2002 through March 23, 2004.  The record clearly supports the conclusion that Western Wireless violated the Stipulation and therefore Western Wireless should be sanctioned by this Commission.

59. The record is less clear as to whether Western Wireless violated federal and state law to justify the remedy of revocation advocated by CTA, Staff, and OCC.  Although as an ETC and EP, Western Wireless has obligations to offer and advertise local calling plans in order to receive support, it is not clear from the factual record that a violation of law occurred.  The evidence does support the fact that Western Wireless offers and advertises various local universal calling plans that could qualify for high cost support.

60. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., it is recommended the Commission enter the following order.

IV. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Western Wireless shall, if it has not done so, immediately offer and provision the $14.99 Basic Universal Service (BUS) Plan.

2. Western Wireless shall immediately advertise the availability of its $14.99 BUS Plan in the media of general distribution and prominently display the offering and charges in its retail stores. This shall include, but not be limited to, advertising in the telephone directory “guide pages” in the designated areas as well as advertising on Western Wireless’ web site. 

3. Western Wireless shall report the BUS “take rate” information including documentation of actual customer purchases to Staff of the Colorado Public Utilities Commission and the Office of Consumer Counsel on a quarterly basis.

4. Western Wireless shall immediately initiate training programs for its retail employees to familiarize all employees with the existence of the plan.

5. As a sanction, Western Wireless, in consultation with the Colorado Telecommunications Association, Staff of the Public Utilities Commission, and the Colorado Office of Consumer Counsel, shall file with the Commission a plan for reparations to its Colorado customers with the Commission within 60 days of the effective date of this Order.  The plan for reparations shall cover the period of November 8, 2002 to March 23, 2004.

6. Western Wireless shall not recover state high cost funds to which it may have been entitled as an Eligible Provider from November 2002 through March, 2004.

7. Western Wireless’ Motion to Dismiss is denied.

8. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

9. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

10. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


WILLIAM J. FRITZEL
________________________________
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� Western Wireless states in its post-hearing Statement of Position, page no. 1 that WWC Holding Company, Inc., is the proper party in interest as successor to Western Wireless Holding Company, Inc.


� Hearing Exhibits 3A, 3B, and 3C.


� Stipulation, Exhibit No. 3C, page 5, paragraph 3.


� Stipulation, Exhibit No. 3C, page 12, paragraph A.


� Transcript No. 1, testimony of Pamela Fischhaber, page 104.  See also hearing exhibit No. 30. 


� Stipulation, page 5, paragraph no. 4.


� See Stipulation, page 12, paragraph C.


� Hearing Exhibit No. 6.


� Hearings Exhibit No. 1.


� Page 5, Exhibit No. 1.


� Exhibit No. 1, pages 13 and 14.


� Hearing Exhibit No. 33.


� Exhibit No. 12.


� Confidential Exhibit No. 14.


� Testimony of James Blundell, transcript no. 2, pages 90 and 91.


� Transcript no. 2, pages 34 and 35.


� Exhibit No. 32.


� Exhibit No. 33.
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